MENTAL HEALTH AND HIV



Additional documents for this item: none

Action required at this meeting—the Programme Coordinating Board is invited to: See Decision Points in paragraph 79

- Recognize progress made by countries, the UNAIDS Joint Programme and other
 partners in supporting integrated mental health and HIV services and the potential further
 negative impact of COVID-19 on the mental health and well-being of people living with
 and affected by HIV;
- take note of the report on mental health and HIV;
- recall that PCB participants are requested to submit written comments in replacement of the debate following the 47th meeting of the PCB, as agreed through the intersessional procedure (UNAIDS/PCB (47)/20.23); and
- call on the Joint Programme to report back on progress at a future PCB meeting.

Cost implications for the implementation of the decisions: none

Table of contents

Executive summary	4
Introduction	5
Mental health and HIV—an imperative and an opportunity for integrated people-	
centred and human rights-based strategies, interventions and services	6
Mental health, HIV and the COVID-19 pandemic	9
Critical role of community-based and -led responses, care and support	. 11
Progress made since the 44th PCB meeting in June 2019	. 12
Development of guidance and tools	. 12
Global advocacy and measuring of stigma, discrimination and wellbeing	
and HIV service integration	. 16
Integration of HIV and mental health in the next phase of the HIV response	. 17
Conclusion and way forward	. 18
Proposed Decision Points	. 19
Annex 1: Tables	. 21
References	. 23

Executive summary

- 1. The importance of addressing the interlinkages between mental health and HIV, substance use and HIV, as well as the common social determinants, stigma and marginalization, is being increasingly acknowledged. However, mental health and psychosocial support for people living with, affected by or at risk of HIV across the life course is seriously lacking. This lack of support poses barriers to their access to HIV testing, treatment and prevention services, and negatively impact on their overall health, well-being and quality of life.
- 2. There is an increasing body of evidence showing that individuals with mental health conditions and substance use, especially young people, ageing and key populations, who are not accessing mental health and substance use treatment and support have more limited access to HIV testing and care. Even when they are able to access HIV care, they are less likely to continue with treatment, leading to more severe HIV disease and even death.
- 3. The COVID-19 pandemic and related public health orders and lockdowns have resulted in increased distress and vulnerabilities across the world, including among women and girls, key populations, and people living with HIV and their families. This underscores the importance of investments into mental health and psychosocial support, particularly for people living with HIV and key populations. Findings from the reports from networks of people living with HIV, UNAIDS, WHO and other partners call attention to this.
- 4. There has been progress since the 43rd PCB meeting's thematic segment and the follow-up to the thematic segment at the 44th PCB meeting. Countries, community groups, the Joint Programme, the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and other partners have advanced their efforts and investments in support of integrated mental health/HIV and substance use/HIV strategies, policies, interventions and services for people living with, affected by and at risk of HIV, people with mental health conditions and people who use drugs and people with harmful use of alcohol.
- 5. However, more needs to be done to ensure wide access to and uptake of human rights-based, people-centred, holistic, gender-sensitive and age-specific services to support the physical and mental health and well-being, and sustained quality of life of people living with, affected by and vulnerable to HIV across the life course.
- 6. As the global HIV response moves forward, increasing attention need to be focused on people-centred integration of services. As part of people-centred and context-specific integrated approaches, the new 2025 global HIV targets include targets on service integration. These include the target of 90% of people living with HIV and key populations accessing integrated or linked HIV and mental health services. The inclusion of these targets and related actions in the forthcoming Global AIDS Strategy 2021-2026 will help increase the health and well-being of people living with HIV and key populations through holistic and integrated services, care and support. The inclusion in the Global Strategy provides an opportunity for mental health and psychosocial support to be further integrated across governments' and partners' health, social and economic strategies, recovery plans and budgets, and community support.
- 7. It is crucial that all relevant partners join in efforts to improve the physical and mental health and the well-being of people living with, affected by and at risk of HIV, as well as of people with mental health conditions, people with disabilities and people who use psychoactive substances.

Introduction

- 8. On 13 December 2018, at its 43rd meeting, the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) devoted the thematic segment to "Mental Health and HIV/AIDS— promoting human rights, an integrated and person-centred approach to improving ARV adherence, well-being and quality of life". It was the first-ever discussion on mental health at the PCB level. The segment was held with the increased acknowledgment of the importance of addressing:
 - the links and synergies between mental health and HIV-infection across the life course;
 - the need to adopt people-centred and human rights-based approaches in service delivery, care and support, and
 - the imperative to eliminate discrimination, stigma, violence, coercion and abuse for achieving good physical and mental health outcomes and for improving the quality of life of people living with and affected by HIV and key populations, including people who use drugs and people with mental health conditions (including those with mental, neurological, and alcohol and drug use disorders).
- 9. The thematic segment reviewed the evidence of the linkages between mental health and HIV and between substance use and HIV. It did so in relation to optimizing HIV prevention, HIV testing, linkage to treatment and care services to support adherence and retention in care, physical and psychosocial well-being and quality of life of people living with, affected by and at risk of HIV, people with mental health conditions and those using psychoactive substances.
- 10. The showcased effective integrated strategies and approaches for addressing mental health, substance use and HIV from a human rights perspective, including through greater community engagement and holistic people-centred, gender-sensitive and agespecific health care and other forms of services and support. Those efforts can catalyse progress towards the targets in the 2016 Political Declaration on Ending AIDS and the relevant Sustainable Development Goals (SDG1, SDG3, SDG5, SDG10, SDG17).
- 11. The thematic segment also highlighted approaches for promoting human rights in the context of mental health, substance use and HIV through the life course. They include education and training of stakeholder groups for eliminating discrimination, stigma, violence, coercion and abuse. The session called for increased collaboration to jointly address challenges and integrate mental health services and substance use treatment with HIV prevention, testing, treatment and care services and programmes.
- 12. At its 44th meeting in June 2019, as follow-up to the thematic segment and the further discussion on mental health and HIV, the PCB took note of the thematic segment's background note and the summary report. The PCB called on Member States to:
 - implement evidence-based, people-centred, human rights and community-based policies and programmes to promote mental health and quality of life, including by addressing stigma and discrimination (related to both HIV and mental health conditions), in the context of HIV prevention, treatment and care services; and address social determinants of mental health and HIV, including through adopting and implementing social protection policies and programmes to reduce stigma and discrimination;

The PCB called on the UNAIDS Joint Programme to:

 review and revise existing practices and guidelines to ensure integration of mental health and substance use treatment and prevention services into the HIV service delivery platforms, and HIV services into mental health and

- substance use prevention and treatment programmes, and provide respective implementation guidance;
- take account of the intersection between mental health and HIV, and the importance of improving psychosocial well-being and quality of life of people affected and living with HIV, as part of a person-centred and human rights approach, when developing the next UNAIDS strategy for 2021–2030; and
- report back to a future PCB meeting on progress made on the integrated approach to mental health and HIV.
- 13. This paper responds to the above PCB requests and presents a brief update on new developments in the efforts of countries, global and other partners (including the Joint Programme) to integrate interventions and services for people with mental health conditions, drug use and harmful use of alcohol with HIV interventions, activities and programmes. It also reports on community engagement and leadership, innovations, resource mobilization, financing and partnerships, and it discusses remaining challenges and opportunities.
- 14. In light of the rising distress and other vulnerabilities experienced by individuals and communities during the COVID-19 pandemic, the paper also touches on the increasing pertinence of investments for addressing mental health in the context of the COVID-19 and HIV pandemics.
- 15. In addition, the paper reflects on the integration of mental health and psychosocial support in the newly proposed global HIV targets for 2025. Mental health/HIV integration targets for people living with HIV and key populations were recently approved by the 2025 AIDS Targets Steering Committee and are presented in this paper. Integration of mental health and psychosocial support with HIV programmes and services is also included in the outline of the Global AIDS Strategy 2021-2026.

Mental health and HIV—an imperative and an opportunity for integrated peoplecentred and human rights-based strategies, interventions and services

- 16. The Sustainable Development Agenda puts nondiscrimination, equality and "leaving no one behind" at the core of global development. In the 2016 Political Declaration on Ending the AIDS epidemic, UN Member States committed to "people's access to quality, people-centred health-care services in a more holistic manner, in the context of promoting the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health and well-being". In the same Declaration, Member States also committed to working towards universal health coverage; to more integrated services for HIV and noncommunicable diseases, including mental health; and to addressing all health consequences of violence against women, including through providing access to mental health support. Member States also committed to the elimination of all forms of HIV-related stigma and discrimination.
- 17. Access to human-rights based, people-centred, holistic, gender-sensitive and agespecific prevention, testing, treatment, care and support services is essential for the physical and mental health, the well-being and the sustained quality of life of people living with, affected by and vulnerable to HIV.
- 18. Mobilization to address synergies and linkages between mental health, substance use and HIV builds on more than 20 years of research and programme experience from around the world. This experience shows that mental health conditions tend to be more prevalent among people living with, affected by, at risk of and vulnerable to HIV than in the overall population.³⁻¹³ Depression is one of the most prevalent mental health

comorbidities and it is highly prevalent among people living with HIV. A systematic review conducted in 2015 reported depression prevalence rates as high as 80% among people living with HIV (with wide variation across studies). Depressive symptoms have been reported in many studies from sub-Saharan African countries with high burdens of HIV. 14, 15, 16, 17, 18

- 19. A 2018 systematic review found that the average prevalence of depression in surveys of people living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa was 24%, compared with about 3% in populations overall. 19 20 People living with HIV are significantly more likely to die by suicide compared to the general population. 21 In a cohort study in Switzerland, people with HIV were three times more likely than people in the general population to die by suicide. 22 According to a recent study in Asia-Pacific countries, up to 40% of adults attending outpatient HIV clinics suffer from depression. Concomitant mental illness is associated with late antiretroviral therapy (ART) initiation and lack of timely viral suppression in people living with HIV. 23 Among people in HIV care, the prevalence of drug dependence is high: 48% in a multisite study in the United States, for example. 4 HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder affects an estimated 50% of adults living with HIV, and includes asymptomatic neurocognitive impairment, mild neurocognitive disorder, and HIV-associated dementia. 25
- 20. HIV prevalence among adult persons with severe mental disorders is higher than among adults without HIV.²⁶ Persons with schizophrenia who are HIV-positive have an over 25-fold risk of dying compared to those who have neither of these.²⁷ Additionally, these numbers might also be underestimations, given low rates of medical care attention among those with severe mental disorders and high rates of comorbid drug dependence.²⁸
- 21. The consequences of such mental health conditions extend across the life course. Depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, and/or alcohol and drug use are linked with lack HIV information and prevention, delayed access to HIV testing, poor linkage and adherence to care, and increased risk of HIV-related mortality. ^{29, 30, 31, 32} Management of mental health conditions and psychoactive drug use issues in the context of HIV can help improve HIV prevention, HIV treatment, adherence, longevity, physical and mental health. Strategies and programmes that integrate mental health interventions, services and support must form part of the HIV response and Universal Health Coverage. ¹⁰
- 22. **Young people.** Adolescents and young people are highly vulnerable to mental health issues and psychoactive drug use. Adolescent mental health and well-being are often overlooked and untreated.³³ Approximately 50% of mental health conditions present in adulthood begin by age 14 and 75% begin by age 25. Those affect adolescents and young adults as they enter school, transition to work, experience sexual debuts and start families.³⁴ Depression and anxiety, account for 16% of the global burden of disease among 10–19-year-olds.³⁵ Suicide is among the top five causes of adolescent deaths and suicide rates are highest among adolescent girls. In 2015, in older adolescent girls, self-harm was the second leading cause of death and the third-ranked cause of adolescent death.^{36, 37}
- 23. **Ageing**. Older people, including those living with HIV, are more likely to experience mental health and neurocognitive impairment, as well as social isolation, due to decreased social participation and engagement.³⁹ People living with HIV, especially those of advanced age, are at higher risk of developing noncommunicable diseases, particularly cardiovascular disease, depression and diabetes. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of studies calculated pooled estimates for the prevalence of

- noncommunicable diseases among people living with HIV in low- and middle-income countries: prehypertension (21%), hypercholesterolemia (22%), obesity (7.8%), depression (24.4%), and diabetes (1.3%–18%).¹⁹
- 24. Globally, as access to lifesaving HIV treatment increases, the number and the proportion of people living with HIV that are 50 years and older is also increasing: from 5.7 million in 2016 to 7.9 million in 2019. Eight percent people living with HIV in 2000 were older than 50 years, compared to 21% in 2019. Eighty percent of people living with HIV aged 50 and older live in low- and middle-income countries, with eastern and southern Africa home to most of them. It is important to ensure that screening, prevention and treatment of noncommunicable diseases, including mental health conditions, among those depression, are provided routinely to ageing people living with HIV, ideally, through HIV service delivery platforms. Electrons and older is also increasing: from 5.7 million in 2016 to 7.9 million in 2019.
- 25. **Key populations**. Gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, transgender people, people who use drugs, people in prisons and other closed settings, and also racial and ethnic minorities are often affected by stigmatization and discriminated against, particularly where they are also criminalized. Their elevated HIV prevalence reflects their social vulnerabilities and health disparities. Given their social marginalization, vulnerability to health threats and rights violations, elevated rates of emotional distress and mental health problems are also common. ^{42, 43} Compounding those experiences is the stigma among many health-care providers towards people with mental health conditions. ^{44, 45, 46}
- 26. People in prisons and other closed settings are also vulnerable to mental health issues. A range of conditions undermine their mental health, including overcrowding, (sexual) violence, solitary confinement, lack of privacy, lack of meaningful activity, high prevalence of drug use, isolation from social networks, stigma and discrimination, insecurity about future prospects, and inadequate health services. This is manifested in the increased prevalence of depression and risk of suicide in prisons. In addition, people with severe mental disorders may be inappropriately held in prisons because of a lack of mental health services in the community.^{47, 48}
- 27. **Humanitarian contexts**. Other vulnerable populations include people in humanitarian emergencies. ⁴⁹ New WHO estimates published in *Lancet* show there are far more people living with mental disorders in areas affected by conflict than previously thought: one person in five is living with some form of mental disorder (from mild depression or anxiety to psychosis) and about one person in 10 is living with a moderate or severe mental disorder. ⁵⁰ Resources for HIV prevention and for mental health care are often limited in the host countries. Migrants also face the risk of poor access to HIV prevention, treatment and care services. Immigration status, language and cultural barriers, unaffordable fees for services, and perceived or actual hostility in the new context can limit access to and utilization of services. ⁵¹
- 28. Lack of human and financial resources. Successful HIV interventions require addressing the scarcity of mental health, neurological or substance use treatment service providers, and the linkage and integration of mental health, neurological and substance use. Globally, there are a median of only 9 mental health-care providers per 100 000 population. The rate is only 2 per 100 000 population in low-income countries compared with more than 70 per 100 000 population in high-income countries. It is estimated that 1 in every 10 people is in need of mental health care at any given time; yet there is, on average, 1 psychiatrist for every 100 000 people. Even smaller numbers of social workers and psychologists are available to meet global mental health needs. ⁵²

- 29. Less than half of the 139 countries that have instituted mental health policies and plans have aligned them with the Human Rights Council human rights resolution¹ that emphasize community-based services and the importance of respecting the autonomy, will and preferences of all persons. When mental health plans are developed, they often are not supported with adequate human and financial resources. Transitioning to care in the community needs to be accelerated to ensure uninterrupted services, and continuum of care, psychological and social support. ^{52,53}
- 30. Further investments are needed so support service-providers' task-shifting or -sharing. They include primary care staff, community health workers and peers, and health-care staff working in or with prisons and other closed settings. Adequate sustained supervision is an important for maintaining quality care. Studies from low- and middleincome countries demonstrate that a variety of providers, including lay health workers, can deliver effective, evidence-based psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy, interpersonal psychotherapy or problem-solving therapy for common mental health conditions such as depression. 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63 This suggests that similar skills could be transferred to HIV care providers as part of an integrated programme of care. ^{64, 65} Countries should develop a cadre of both specialist and non-specialist providers for prevention, treatment and care mental health conditions. In addition, countries should use the local resources that are available, including at community level, and mobilize additional resources if needed. Communitybased interventions to promote mental health, well-being and quality of life should be scaled up. The WHO's "mhGAP Intervention Guide" for mental health conditions in nonspecialized health settings, including those providing HIV services, should be utilized widely for evidence-informed care and treatment protocols.⁶⁶

Mental health, HIV and the COVID-19 pandemic

- 31. Billions of people are affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, which is having a serious impact on people's mental health.⁶⁷ The pandemic threatens to lead to a major mental health crisis if appropriate actions are not taken,⁶⁸ highlighting the need to invest in mental health. Bereavement, isolation, loss of income, fear and the risk of not being able to get health services and support are generating mental health complications or exacerbating existing issues. Studies from Canada, China, Ethiopia and elsewhere indicate that the COVID-19 pandemic is associated with distress, anxiety, insomnia, fear of contagion, depression and insomnia, as well as increased levels of alcohol and drug use. ^{68 70 71}
- 32. COVID-19 infection itself is often characterized by mental and neurological manifestations. ⁷³ Neurological manifestations include headaches, altered sense of smell, delirium, stroke, Guillain-Barre syndrome, and meningitis. Neurological manifestations are associated with more severe COVID-19 illness and increased mortality. COVID-19 is likely associated with long-term neurological consequences. ^{75, 76, 77} Increased mortality is also reported in COVID-19 patients with a preexisting psychiatric diagnosis. ⁷⁴ Stress and mental health conditions (including mood disorders, drug use and harmful use of alcohol) are associated with suicidal behavior. COVID-19 survivors may also be at elevated suicide risk. Multiple cases of COVID-19-related suicides have been reported around the world. ^{78, 79} Mental health consequences of the COVID-19 crisis are likely to continue well beyond the pandemic itself. ⁷⁰
- 33. Poor mental health and food insecurity are associated with lower quality of life among people living with HIV. Globally, food insecurity has worsened during the COVID-19.

-

¹ A/HRC/RES/36/13

pandemic. A rapid vulnerability assessment done by the World Food Programme (WFP) and UNAIDS among people living with HIV in Tunisia found that 94% of respondents had lost income, 87% were unable to access fresh foods, and 50% wanted more information/services related to mental health and wellness support. A study in Ethiopia found that almost 39% of people living with HIV had experienced severe household food insecurity.⁸⁰

- 34. Over 60% of the 130 countries surveyed by WHO reported disruptions to mental health services for vulnerable people, including children and adolescents (72%), older adults (70%), and women requiring antenatal or postnatal services (61%). Two thirds had experienced disruptions to counseling and psychotherapy; 30% reported disrupted access to medications for mental, neurological and drug use disorders; 65% to vital harm reduction services; and 45% to opioid agonist maintenance treatment for opioid dependence. More than a third (35%) reported disruptions to emergency interventions, including those for people experiencing prolonged seizures, severe drug dependence withdrawal syndromes, and delirium; around three-quarters reported at least partial disruptions to school and workplace mental health services (78% and 75%, respectively).⁸¹ In Botswana, the lockdown measures have had a significant impact on youth-led programmes and peer support, which feature prominently in the country's HIV response. Community activities, such as teen clubs, peer education for in- and out-of-school youth, face-to-face adherence counselling and psychosocial support were halted to help control the spread of COVID-19.⁸²
- 35. Health care, social and community workers, faced with heavy workloads, life-or-death decisions, and risk of infection, are particularly affected by psychological distress. In China, health-care workers have reported high rates of depression (50%), anxiety (45%), and insomnia (34%), while 47% of health-care workers in Canada have reported a need for psychological support.^{72,81}
- 36. The COVID-19 pandemic has increased demand for mental health services and support, and for addressing stigma and discrimination. The pandemic has been associated with increased violence against women and girls, 82,83 as well as against people from LGBTI communities.84 Emergency powers have also been misused to reduce human rights protections for vulnerable populations.85 86 Rapid assessments done by UN Women (and validated by national partners) across several regions have found that lockdowns were having a severe impact on women.87 88 89 90 91 92 93
- 37. In a recent survey on the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on people living with HIV in 12 Latin American and Caribbean countries (supported by the UNAIDS Regional Support Team), the majority of people living with HIV were concerned about their mental health (between 77% and 91%) and about HIV-related stigma (between 77% and 95%) during the pandemic. Between 27% and 62% respondents reported needing psychosocial support to deal with anxiety associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. ⁹⁴ A national survey in Australia has found that transgender people have experienced thoughts of suicide or hurting themselves at disproportionately high rates during the pandemic. The study also highlights poor access to health services and a lack of specialized services for LGBT people. ⁹⁵
- 38. The rapid response survey implemented by the Interagency Task Team on Young Key Populations in Asia-Pacific has found high levels of anxiety about COVID-19 among young key populations and young people living with HIV. Approximately 70% of respondents reported feeling anxious or extremely anxious, 59% reported anxiety due to loss of income, and 39% were unable to work as often as usual. Among young people who reported needing mental health services, 34% had experienced delays or

- disruption in access to medications and 47% had experienced delays or disruption in accessing psychosocial support as a result of the ongoing pandemic. A further 9% of respondents requiring mental health medications lacked access to those services and 14% of those needing psychosocial support lacked access to that essential service.⁹⁶
- 39. UN General Assembly Resolution 74/306 (June 2020), on a comprehensive and coordinated response to the COVID-19 pandemic, encouraged Member States to "address mental health in their response to and recovery from the pandemic by ensuring widespread availability of emergency mental health and psychosocial support".97
- 40. Encouragingly, the WHO survey cited earlier found that many countries have integrated mental health and psychosocial support into their COVID-19 plans and into their country-level multisectoral mental health and psychosocial service platforms.⁸¹
- 41. Some countries have managed to use innovative approaches to ensure the continuity of services, including those for psychosocial support. In Philippines, the Department of Health, in partnership with WHO, launched a multisectoral approach for mental health, with programmes and interventions across workplaces, schools and communities aimed at high-risk groups. It also launched mental health hotlines.⁹⁸
- 42. As part of the HIV response in eastern and southern African countries, the "U-report" platforms were used to quickly poll adolescents and young people and then tailor programmes to their needs. These platforms are proving useful for awareness raising, psychosocial support to individuals and groups, linkage to services and to improve organizational functioning. Health workers are being supported through virtual supervision in Kenya and technical working groups are holding weekly virtual meetings to steer the response in Eswatini. Lesotho's Ministry of Health and UNICEF, in partnership with Help Lesotho, are providing remote health counselling, COVID-19 information, and psychosocial support through teleconsultations for pregnant and breastfeeding adolescent girls and for the other young mothers and their children who participate in the "2gether 4 SRHR17 Young Mothers Programme".99

Critical role of community-based and -led responses, care and support

43. Community engagement, buy-in, advocacy, leadership and provision of people- and community-centred services are essential when addressing mental health conditions, drug use, harmful use of alcohol and HIV interlinkage, stigma and discrimination associated with them. The role of communities is also important in ensuring continuum of HIV and mental health care, access to HIV prevention, and support for well-being and building resilience of their own communities, including those in humanitarian and fragile settings. This is especially pertinent during the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the challenges, many of the changes in mental health, drug use, harmful use of alcohol and HIV service and support provision implemented during the pandemic in both highincome and resource-constrained settings can and should be maintained. These include offering a spectrum of options for remote and in-person counselling, support and care; greater integration of behavioral and physical healthcare; prevention of COVID19 exposure; prescription and delivery of multi-months mental health, neurological and drug treatment; modifying safety plans and psychiatric advance directives to include new technologies and broader support systems; leveraging natural supports, and integration of digital health interventions. 100 They help to decongest health clinics, bring services closer to the people in need and increase the control that is invested in the hands of people and communities. The leadership and engagement of communities

- remain critical enabler for the effective response to the HIV epidemic, human rights violations, stigma and discrimination, and now the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 44. For both HIV and COVID-19, women play critical roles as frontline health and community workers and community leaders, and measures are needed to enable support for women in those roles.⁸⁵

Progress made since the 44th PCB meeting in June 2019

Development of guidance and tools

- 45. In follow-up to Decision Point 9.3 at the 44th PCB meeting, the UNAIDS Secretariat and WHO developed an implementation guide to support the integration of services for mental health conditions, drug dependence and harmful alcohol use into HIV service delivery settings. The guide will be published shortly. It draws on existing HIV and mental health and other service provision guidelines, including the WHO "mhGAP Intervention Guide", 66 the "mhGAP operations manual", 101 substance-use related WHO and UNODC guidelines and tools, and other WHO guidelines for HIV testing, care and treatment.
- 46. The WHO's "Comprehensive mental health action plan 2013–2020", which the 66th World Health Assembly adopted in May 2013, 102 was extended to 2030 at the 72nd World Health Assembly to ensure its alignment with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The plan is intended to help countries achieve SDG target 3.4: by 2030, reduce by one third premature deaths from noncommunicable diseases through prevention and treatment, and promote mental health and well-being.
- 47. The action plan was developed in response to the growing burden of mental health conditions and the challenges that health systems are facing in responding to the needs of people with mental health issues. The plan is a landmark achievement which focuses international attention on a long-neglected problem and is firmly rooted in the human rights principles. Its key objectives include: (i) strengthen effective leadership and governance for mental health; (ii) provide comprehensive, integrated and responsive mental health and social care services in community-based settings; (iii) implement strategies for promotion and prevention in mental health; and (iv) strengthen information systems, evidence and research for mental health.
- 48. In 2019, as part of the "QualityRights" global initiative to increase access to good quality services in mental health and related areas and to promote the human rights of people with psychosocial, intellectual and cognitive disabilities, WHO launched tools to introduce and strengthen a rights-based approach. The tools are available to countries on request. The main objectives of the "QualityRights" initiative are to: (i) build capacity to combat stigma and discrimination and promote a person-centered, rights-based approach; (ii) improve the quality of care and human rights conditions in mental health and related services; (iii) create community-based and recovery-oriented services that respect and promote human rights; (iv) develop a civil society movement to conduct advocacy and influence policy-making; and (v) reform national policies and legislations in line with international human rights standards.
- 49. <u>Several guidance documents and briefing have been developed to address the mental health needs of adolescents and young people.</u>
 - a. In September 2020, WHO launched the *Guidelines on promotive and preventive mental health interventions for adolescents—Helping adolescents thrive.* It provides

evidence-informed recommendations on psychosocial interventions to promote mental health, prevent mental disorders, and reduce self-harm and other risk behaviours among adolescents. The aim is to inform policy development, service planning and the strengthening of health and education systems, as well as facilitate mainstreaming of adolescent mental health promotion and prevention strategies across sectors and delivery platforms. The Guidelines recommend mental health and psychosocial interventions to be delivered to adolescents living with HIV and adolescent key populations (including LGBT adolescents) to promote positive mental health, to prevent mental disorders, self-harm and suicide, and to reduce risky behaviours. ¹⁰⁴

- b. Research gaps on mental health and psychosocial interventions need to be filled. WHO is updating the *Consolidated guidelines for use of antiretrovirals for preventing and treating HIV-infection*. Service delivery and psychosocial interventions to improve adherence and retention in care for adolescents and young people living with HIV are a particular focus. The guidelines are expected to be launched in early 2021.¹⁰⁵
- c. Engaging adolescents in providing service delivery, including the provision of psychosocial support services, is an essential part of person-centred, differentiated care. WHO in 2019 developed a technical brief on peer-driven models of care to support HIV programme managers in health ministries and other adolescent-relevant line ministries in planning, implementing, monitoring and evaluating peer-based and adolescent-responsive services, including psychosocial support. 106
- d. The needs of pregnant adolescents and adolescent mothers remain a challenge. In 2019, WHO convened a learning session of global experts and stakeholders to discuss and develop advocacy points and key actions on improving the mental health and well-being of pregnant adolescents and adolescent mothers living with HIV. ¹⁰⁷
- e. UNICEF has committed to increase its engagement with health-care facilities and school health as platforms for awareness-raising and integrated delivery of preventive and promotive interventions for adolescents, including mental health. UNICEF dedicated one of the key sections of its 2019 annual report to adolescent mental health. In November 2019, UNICEF organized the "Leading Minds" conference on mental health for children and adolescents. 108
- f. To ensure the continuity of services including mental health services and support for adolescents and young people during the COVID-19 pandemic, UNICEF in collaboration with the WHO adolescent HIV service delivery working group produced the information note *Prioritizing the continuity of services for adolescents living with HIV during the COVID-19 pandemic*. The note is aimed at policymakers, programme managers and major funders of the health sector response to HIV who are active in contexts where COVID-19 threatens service continuity. 109
- 50. Working with members of the UNODC-CSO group on drug use and HIV, UNODC in 2019 developed the technical guide on "HIV prevention treatment care and support among people who use stimulant drugs". To support dissemination of the guide, UNODC developed a training programme that addresses specific subcategories of stimulant drugs (e.g. amphetamine-type stimulants, cocaine, and new psychoactive substances). It held "train the trainer" workshops in Brazil, Dominican Republic and Viet Nam, as well as regional workshops in the Middle East and North Africa (covering Afghanistan, Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Islamic Republic of Iran, Morocco, Lebanon, and Tunisia), eastern Europe (Belarus, Republic of Moldova and Ukraine) and south-east Asia (China, Cambodia, Myanmar, Indonesia, Thailand and Viet Nam).¹¹⁰
- 51. Guidance has also been developed on specific mental health needs of women living with HIV. In 2019, UNODC worked with WHO, UNFPA, UN Women and UNAIDS to develop the technical guide on "Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in

prisons". Women in prison have a higher prevalence of mental health conditions such as self-harm and depression, as well as drug use, harmful use of alcohol, and post-traumatic and psychosocial stress than the general population. The guide makes specific reference to women's mental health issues in prison and the importance of providing mental health screening, comprehensive services, rehabilitation programmes, and strategies and support to prevent suicide and self-harm. To support the dissemination of the guide, UNODC developed a training programme. It held "train the trainer" workshops in Africa (Eswatini, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique Nigeria, Namibia, South Africa, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe), eastern Europe (Belarus, Republic of Moldova, Ukraine), and South East Asia (Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam).

52. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, WHO outlined required adaptations for mental, neurological and drug dependence treatment and other services as part of essential health services in its June 2020 interim operational guidance, "Maintaining essential health services: operational guidance for the COVID-19 context". The humanitarian community, through the Inter-Agency Standing Committee, has developed multisectoral guidance (in multiple languages) for adapting mental health and psychosocial support programmes during COVID-19 in humanitarian settings . WHO and the Inter-Agency Standing Committee partners also developed a range of resources on mental health and psychosocial support in context of COVID-19, for multiple age groups and in numerous languages. 69, 114

Global advocacy and measuring of stigma, discrimination and wellbeing

- 53. On 10 October, 2020, WHO for the first time hosted a global online advocacy event on mental health, titled the "Big event for mental health". The UNAIDS Secretariat joined the Big Event by contributing to the mental health and HIV segment which featured AIDS activists, and people living with HIV and mental health conditions.
- 54. Stigma Index 2.0 methodology revision and implementation. The People Living with HIV Stigma Index (hereafter, Stigma Index) is the world's largest social research project that is implemented by people living with HIV themselves. It monitors HIV-related stigma and discrimination across different domains of life, with particular attention to related stigmas that affect the diverse populations of people living with HIV. The project provides evidence for advocacy to address key barriers to HIV treatment, prevention, care and support. The Stigma Index is coordinated by the International Partnership of GNP+, ICW, and UNAIDS. Funding for the Stigma Index research is provided by PEPFAR, USAID, Global Fund, as well as some national governments and other bilateral donors.¹¹⁶
- 55. The revision of the Stigma Index methodology was undertaken with the following aims: (i) to enable the gathering of data that allows comparisons across settings and time; (ii) to support the assessment of stigma reduction interventions for people living with HIV, consistent with the UNAIDS global goal of zero stigma in the HIV response; and (iii) to provide data on HIV-related stigma and discrimination that is gathered with the necessary rigour.
- 56. Earlier in 2020, with the UNAIDS and PEPFAR support, a revised sampling methodology for Stigma Index 2.0 was developed to ensure the ability to measure and compare manifestations of stigma and discrimination. There was particular focus on intersectional stigma based on gender and gender identity, age, sexuality, occupation in sex work and drug use, and on corresponding mitigation interventions, across countries

and within countries over time. The Stigma Index 2.0 questionnaire also includes a question about the mental health of people living with HIV.

Table 1. Status of the implementation of Stigma Index 2.0, 2020



- 57. The LGBTI Global survey on happiness, well-being, and HIV vulnerability. In 2019, UNAIDS partnered with researchers at Aix-Marseille University, the University of Minnesota, and the LGBT+ Foundation to conduct a large global survey on happiness, well-being and HIV vulnerability among lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) people. The purpose was to inform public health actions and HIV response with a focus on LGBTI communities at global, regional and country levels. The survey is seen by LGBTI communities as a crucial effort to improve understandings of how LGBTI people live worldwide. There was strong engagement of communities in the survey, with over 115 000 responses from 197 countries and territories. The data are currently being analysed and findings will be released in a series of publications involving community and academia partners.
- 58. Early results¹¹⁷ informed by multilevel modelling suggest that LGBTI individuals are at increased risk of acquiring HIV if they face stigma. Mental well-being of participants living with HIV is significantly poorer than among people not living with HIV. Depression, anxiety and HIV are mutually reinforcing and occur in wider social contexts of stigma.¹¹⁸ It was found that social and economic inequalities are associated with poorer mental well-being in LGBTI individuals; those living with HIV tend to experience increased burdens of depression and anxiety. Preliminary findings also suggest that pervasive stigma and mental health issues are associated with barriers to access to and engagement in health care. The likelihood of never taking an HIV test was almost twice higher among LGBTI individuals who experienced severe anxiety and depression than among people without those mental health conditions.
- 59. Furthermore, two additional surveys conducted in April and May 2020 and in October and November 2020 showed that the COVID-19 crisis increases the socioeconomic¹¹⁹ and HIV vulnerability of LGBT population.¹²⁰

New funding commitments and resource mobilization for mental health, substance use and HIV service integration

- 60. <u>PEPFAR</u>. The PCB thematic segment on mental health and HIV in December 2018 informed PEPFAR's decision to fund and include mental health and HIV as a new technical area in the 2019 Country Operational Plan (COP) Guidance, ¹²¹ in addition to the resilience-building and support activities for adolescent girls and young women in the DREAMS initiative, and the implementation of Stigma Index 2.0. Mental health has remained a focused area of the PEPFAR also in the COP 2020 cycle. ¹²²
- 61. In the 2019 COPs, the following mental health interventions, programmes and services have been implemented by the implementing partners with PEPFAR support: 123
 - Botswana, Eswatini, Namibia, and Zambia integrated the "Common Elements
 Treatment Approach" into primary health care, antenatal care and HIV service
 delivery sites. This is an integrated, evidence-based mental health treatment
 approach, which lay providers alongside a clinical supervisor. It is designed for lowresource settings.
 - The Asia region, South Africa, Ukraine and the western hemisphere-Caribbean region were supported by HRSA/SAMHSA technical assistance programmes on substance use and mental health intervention training for providers.
 - Burundi, Cameroon and Malawi offered mental health evaluation and services that are focused on priority populations, including military personnel and people incarcerated people.
- 62. In the 2020 COPs, PEPFAR will be supporting a wider range of mental health interventions and services, 123 including in Angola (psychosocial support services for people living with HIV, using the Mentor Mothers peer-led model); Botswana (adherence and psychosocial support groups and interventions, including for adolescents and youth; stigma and discrimination reduction among service providers); Burundi (mental health and psychosocial support for key populations and orphaned and vulnerable children); and Cameroon (mental health screening for people living with HIV, stigma and discrimination reduction among health-care workers, the "Positive Health, Dignity and Prevention" model with integrated HIV, mental health and other services).
- 63. Other projects will operate in Dominican Republic (psychosocial and adherence support, community-based interventions for reduction of stigma and discrimination among facility-based and community health workers); Ethiopia (faith-based organizations and religious leaders providing psychosocial support for people living with HIV); Kenya (enhanced psychosocial and mental health support for adolescents living with HIV); and Malawi (psychosocial and mental health support for adolescents living with HIV via teen clubs, and expansion of health care and lay service provider cadres, and training psychosocial and mental health support for health-care providers at high-volume HIV clinics).
- 64. Also in development are interventions in Namibia (continued implementation of mental health interventions at high-volume HIV treatment sites); South Africa (mental health support services for people starting HIV treatment); Sudan (psychosocial support for linkage to HIV care, and psychosocial support for adolescents and children, and for survivors of gender-based violence); Ukraine (psychosocial support to people living with HIV), Viet Nam ("one-stop-shop" clinics that provide mental health and substance use services); Zambia (psychosocial support for HIV treatment and PrEP adherence); and Zimbabwe (integrated HIV and mental health and substance use screening, treatment and support, including the Friendship Bench model).

- 65. In the Asia Regional Programme, services for the psychosocial, economic and social protection needs of children will be provided in India. Stigma Index 2.0 implementation and subsequent interventions will be supported in Angola, Botswana, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Liberia, Mali, Myanmar, Nepal, South Africa and Zambia.
- 66. The Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. In 2019, the Global Fund expanded its funding policies to more explicitly include mental health and substance use services for children, adolescents and adults living with HIV, adolescent girls and young women, key populations and their partners. The recommended services include referrals to risk assessment, risk reduction counselling, mental health and substance use screening and care services, addressing stigma, discrimination and violence, including sexual identity development, depression and trauma, and others. 124, 125, 126
 Following advocacy and support from the Joint Programme, civil society organizations and others partners, many across all the regions have included integrated mental health and HIV interventions and services in their Global Fund funding requests as part the "Window 1–4" allocations (pending final approvals and grant negotiations).
- 67. Community-led efforts and support during the COVID-19 pandemic. Many countries and communities have managed to put in place additional people- and community-centred services and support systems during the pandemic. For example, Phenomenal Positive Youths in Lusaka (a community organization of young people living with HIV) is active in the multisectoral risk communication community and is addressing issues of mental health, stigma and discrimination among young people. ¹²⁷ In Zimbabwe, "e-peer support" groups provide adherence and psychosocial support to more than 8 000 children, adolescents and young people living with HIV, with the support of Africaid and trained community adolescent treatment supporters and young mentor mothers. ⁸² In many countries of Asia-Pacific region, eastern Europe and central Asia, people on opioid substitution therapy have been provided with multiweek community-delivered and take-home supplies of methadone and other opioid substitution therapy medicines. They are also benefiting from flexible opening hours at opioid substitution therapy clinics, and psychosocial and transportation support. ¹²⁸
- 68. These community-based and -led responses to COVID-19, HIV and mental health challenges underline the critical role of communities, including community-based organizations and community workers. They must be supported in their work to protect and enhance the quality of life of people living with, affected by and at risk of HIV, and of people with mental health conditions and substance use issues.

Integration of HIV and mental health in the next phase of the HIV response

- 69. For the first time, specific targets for the integration of mental health and HIV approaches have been included in global HIV targets for 2025. As endorsed by the Steering Committee, the targets for 2025 are as follows.
 - Overall integration target. Adoption of people-centred and context-specific
 integrated approaches that support the achievement of 2025 AIDS targets and
 result in at least 90% of people living with HIV and individuals at heightened risk of
 HIV infection being linked to services for other communicable diseases,
 noncommunicable diseases, sexual and gender-based violence, mental health and
 other services they need for their overall health and well-being.
 - Population-specific integration targets:
 - People living with HIV: 90% have access to integrated or linked services for HIV treatment and cardiovascular diseases, cervical cancer, mental health, diabetes diagnosis and treatment, education on healthy lifestyle counselling, smoking cessation advice and physical exercise.

- o gay men and other men who have sex with men: 90% have access to HIV services integrated with (or link to) sexually transmitted infection, mental health and intimate partner violence programmes, sexual and gender-based violence programmes that include post-exposure prophylaxis, and psychological first aid.
- sex workers: 90% have access to HIV services integrated with (or link to) sexually transmitted infection, mental health and intimate partner violence programmes, sexual and gender-based violence programmes that include postexposure prophylaxis and psychological first aid.
- transgender people: 90% of transgender people have access to HIV services integrated with or linked to STI, mental health, gender-affirming therapy, intimate partner violence and sexual and gender-based violence programmes that include post-exposure prophylaxis, emergency contraception and psychological first aid.
- People who inject drugs: 90% have access to comprehensive harm reduction services integrated or linked to hepatitis C, HIV and mental health services.
- 70. Integration of mental health and psychosocial support with HIV services and interventions, including those led by communities, has been included in the annotated outline of the Global AIDS Strategy 2021-2016 (UNAIDS/PCB (47)/20.36). This prioritization will help ensure that the health and well-being of people living with HIV will be addressed through holistic and integrated services, care and support. The Strategy provides an opportunity for mental health and psychosocial support to be integrated across governments' and partners' health, social and economic strategies, recovery plans and budgets, and community support.

Conclusion and way forward

- 71. We cannot end the AIDS epidemic unless we ensure mental health and well-being throughout the life course and especially among the most vulnerable people and communities. Countries should address the social determinants of mental health, drug use, harmful use of alcohol and HIV by developing and passing laws that promote social protection, child protection and gender equality, and that combat discrimination (including against people using drugs and other key populations, and people with mental health conditions). Stigma reduction policies and plans, antipoverty strategies and other addressing the social and structural factors, including violence, that drive the epidemic are urgently needed. Coordinated implementation of multisectoral interventions is needed at the sociopolitical level, in communities and the health sector to address vulnerabilities associated with HIV, drug use, harmful use of alcohol, being deprived of liberty, and mental health conditions.
- 72. Mental health, including for children, adolescents, adults and older adults living with, affected by and at risk of HIV, people who live with mental health conditions, people with use drugs, people with harmful use of alcohol, people in prisons, and other vulnerable groups, will remain a serious concern even as countries emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic and embark on social, economic and health systems recovery. Mental health should be fully considered across governments' health, social and economic responses and recovery plans and budgets, and community support.
- 73. In order to integrate mental health into HIV prevention, treatment and care services with mental health services and to promote people-centred, gender sensitive, age specific and human rights approaches, service delivery and strategies, well-being and quality of life, a number of key actions need to be taken and the investments should be made^{1,2} Integrated approaches is considered as a way to reach universal health coverage¹⁷⁰ and

seen by the Lancet Commission on Global Mental Health and Sustainable Development as one of seven key actions for improving mental health across populations.¹⁷¹ Integration of HIV and mental health policies, interventions and services implies acknowledgment of and investments in addressing the bidirectional links between mental health and HIV. It also reflects the shared values of increasing individual agency and reducing disparities in access to quality services, care and support.

- 74. The role of communities in engaging and leading in responding to HIV, mental health conditions, neurological issues, drug use or harmful use of alcohol issues, and now the COVID-19 pandemic is critical. The communities and networks of people living with HIV, key populations, youth and women's groups have three decades of experience of implementing community-based people-centred and stigma reduction programmes and support in the context of HIV, which countries can tap into to further inform and support community-based public health responses to mental health, neurological and substance use issues, and COVID-19.
- 75. To additionally address the effects of COVID-19 on women and girls, and other vulnerable groups, integrated services that adapt services for survivors of violence and other human rights violations in the context of COVID-19 are also needed. Integrated HIV, mental health and COVID-19 services need to also reach populations in closed (e.g. prison), humanitarian and emergency settings to protect their health and well-being. Health and community workers and other service providers—in or outside health facilities, among them those providing HIV, mental health, neurological and substance use services, should be provided with mental health and psychosocial support and counselling.
- 76. The shortage and lack of capacity of human resources for the provision of mental health and substance use services need to be urgently addressed by countries and development partners. Countries should develop, build capacities of and train a cadre of both specialist and non-specialist providers for prevention, treatment and care for mental health conditions and substance use services using the local resources available, including at community level, and mobilize additional resources if lacking. Investments should be made into scaling up of community-based and community-led interventions to promote mental health, human rights, non-discrimination, well-being and quality of life. Countries should identify which tasks should be shifted and which cadres of providers should be trained and mobilized to deliver care, as well as organize sustained supervisory systems and identify resources at regional and national levels for sustainability.¹⁷²
- 77. There are several "unknowns" about the links between mental health and HIV, between HIV and noninjecting drug use, and regarding the measurable impact of integrated mental health, neurological, substance use and HIV strategies and interventions on HIV and other outcomes. It is important to address the gaps in our knowledge and programming on mental health conditions, drug or harmful use of alcohol treatment in the context of HIV through additional research and implementation science.

Proposed Decision Points

- 78. The Programme Coordinating Board is invited to:
 - Recognize progress made by countries, the UNAIDS Joint Programme, and other
 partners in supporting integrated mental health and HIV services and the potential
 further negative impact of COVID-19 on the mental health and well-being of people
 living with and affected by HIV;

- take note of the report on mental health and HIV;
- recall that PCB participants are requested to submit written comments in replacement of the debate following the 47th meeting of the PCB as agreed upon through the intersessional procedure (UNAIDS/PCB (47)/20.23); and
- call on the Joint Programme to report back on progress at a future PCB meeting.

Annex 1: Tables

Table 1. HIV, mental health and substance use: justifications for linkages and integration of services, interventions, programmes and strategies

Mental health conditions

- Affect around 971 million people globally, 129 and occur commonly and disproportionately among the 38 million people living with HIV;
- Are associated with increased risk of HIV, especially when severe, and people with severe mental health disorders have a high prevalence of HIV in the Americas, Europe, Africa, and Asia; 130
- Lack or delay in access to HIV information, prevention, testing, linkage and adherence to care; 131, 132, 133, 134
- There is a strong relationship between mental health and adherence to HIV treatment for women. Women living with HIV are impacted by depression, anxiety, stress, a lack of self-esteem, motivation to go on living, and self-stigma that influences women's health-seeking behavior and adherence to HIV treatment; 135
- Depression treatment can improve adherence to care and HIV outcomes; 136
- Are sometimes associated with increased mortality due to HIV. 137, 138, 139, 140, 141

Alcohol and drug use issues

- Approximately 283 million people are affected by harmful use of alcohol, and high-risk patterns of alcohol use increase risk of HIV infection;¹⁴²
- 3% of HIV deaths are attributable to alcohol:143
- HIV infection is highly prevalent among people who use drugs (an estimated 1.4 million people who
 inject drugs are living with HIV);¹⁴⁴
- Around 35 million people live with substance use and who require treatment services;¹⁴⁴
- Substance use (especially injection drug use) increases the risk of HIV transmission; 145, 146
- People with substance use, including drug and harmful alcohol use, have poor HIV treatment outcomes: 147, 148
- People with substance use, including drug and harmful alcohol use, lack access to HIV testing and treatment, and adherence to HIV care and treatment; 132, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153
- Approximately 20% of new HIV infections outside of sub-Saharan Africa are associated with injection drug use, but political and social barriers to care alongside scarcity of services for drug treatment persist;¹⁴⁴
- There is evidence that drug treatment is associated with an increase in ART coverage and adherence to ART.¹⁵⁴

Suicide

- An estimated 800 000 people die annually by suicide, and mortality due to suicide is elevated among people with HIV;^{22,155, 156}
- Rates of suicidal ideation or attempts ranged from 13% to 17% among people living with HIV in three African studies;^{57, 158, 159}
- Targeted strategies to reduce risk for suicide and suicide deaths benefit people living with HIV. 160, 161

Stigma and discrimination

- Social stigma, including among health-care service providers, affects mental well-being and can limit
 provision and uptake of HIV prevention, treatment and care services. Laws and policies also shape
 risk and protection for key and marginalized populations. Criminalization of homosexuality, sex work
 and/or drug use, and the refusal to sanction prevention practices, such as needle exchange or
 condom provision in prisons, all hinder HIV prevention;¹⁶²
- Key populations, people living with HIV and people with mental health conditions often experience
 multifaceted stigma and the effects of interlocking systems of discrimination.^{163, 164} Stigma associated
 with HIV—and marginalized identities—has been linked to anxiety, depression, poor self-esteem and
 poor adherence to HIV care;¹⁶⁵
- In prison settings, where there is an increased prevalence of mental health issues, awareness of, training on, and access to services for, mental health is often limited or entirely lacking;

- Stigma remains a barrier to accessing drug dependence treatment, mental health care and HIV services;^{166, 167}
- Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts are often associated with social exclusion for living with HIV and key populations. ¹⁶⁸ Community, health system and interpersonal factors associated with suicide risk can accumulate in communities vulnerable to HIV or living with HIV. ¹⁶⁹ Those factors include stigma associated with help-seeking, limited access to mental health services, living in the context of war or displacement, acculturation pressures, experiencing discrimination, isolation, poor social support, punitive laws and discriminating policies and practices. ¹⁶⁹

References

- 1. 43rd meeting, UNAIDS PCB Agenda item 12 Thematic segment Mental Health and HIV/AIDS promoting human rights, an integrated and person-centred approach to improving ART adherence, wellbeing and quality of life. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2018
- (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2018/PCB43_18.32).
- 2. 44th meeting, UNAIDS PCB Decisions. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2019 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2019/PCB44_Decisions).
- 3. Ayuso-Mateos JL, Montanes F, Lastra I, Garza JJPDL, Ayuso-Gutierrez JL. HIV infection in psychiatric patients: An unlinked anonymous study. British Journal of Psychiatry. 1997;170(February):181-5.
- 4. Beckford Jarrett S, De La Haye W, Miller Z, Figueroa JP, Duncan J, Harvey K. High prevalence of psychiatric and substance use disorders among persons seeking treatment for HIV and other STIs in Jamaica: a short report. AIDS Care. 2018;30(5):604-8.
- 5. Bing EG, Burnam MA, Longshore D, et al. Psychiatric disorders and drug use among human immunodeficiency virus-infected adults in the United States. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2001;58(8):721-8.
- 6. Collins PY, Holman A, Freeman M, Patel V. What is the relevance of mental health to HIV/AIDS care and treatment programs in developing countries? A systematic review. AIDS. 2006;20(12):1571-82.
- 7. Duko B, Toma A, Abraham Y. Prevalence and correlates of common mental disorder among HIV patients attending antiretroviral therapy clinics in Hawassa City, Ethiopia. Annals of general psychiatry. 2019;18:17.
- 8. Kinyanda E, Hoskins S, Nakku J, Nawaz S, Patel V. Prevalence and risk factors of major depressive disorder in HIV/AIDS as seen in semi-urban Entebbe district, Uganda. BMC Psychiatry. 2011;11:205.
- 9. Patel P, Rose CE, Collins PY, et al. Noncommunicable diseases among HIV-infected persons in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2018;32Suppl1:S5-s20.
- 10. Remien RH, Stirratt MJ, Nguyen N, Robbins RN, Pala AN, Mellins CA. Mental health and HIV/AIDS: the need for an integrated response. AIDS. 2019;33(9):1411-20.
- 11. Shadloo B, Amin-Esmaeili M, Motevalian A, et al. Psychiatric disorders among people living with HIV/AIDS in IRAN: Prevalence, severity, service utilization and unmet mental health needs. J Psychosom Res. 2018;110:24-31.
- 12. Duko B, Ayalew M, Ayano G. The prevalence of alcohol use disorders among people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Substance abuse treatment, prevention, and policy. 2019;14(1):52.
- 13. Cook JA, Burke-Miller JK, Steigman PJ, et al. Prevalence, Comorbidity, and Correlates of Psychiatric and Substance Use Disorders and Associations with HIV Risk Behaviors in a Multisite Cohort of Women Living with HIV. AIDS Behav. 2018;22(10):3141-54.
- 14. Ciesla JA, Roberts JE. Meta-analysis of the relationship between HIV infection and risk for depressive disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2001;158:725–30.
- 15. Rabkin JG. HIV and depression: 2008 review and update. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2008;5(4):163–71. 158 Gonzalez JS, Batchelder AW, Psaros C, Safren SA. Depression and HIV/AIDS treatment non-adherence: a review and meta-analysis. JAIDS. 2011;58(2):181–7.
- 16. Brandt R. The mental health of people living with HIV/AIDS in Africa: a systematic review. Afr J AIDS Res. 2009;8(2):123–33.

- 17. Nakimuli-Mpungu E, Bass JK, Alexandre P, Mills EJ, Musisi S, Ram M et al. Depression, alcohol use and adherence to antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2012;16:2101–18.
- 18. Berg CJ, Michelson SE, Safren SA. Behavioral aspects of HIV care: adherence, depression, substance use, and HIV-transmission behaviors. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2007;21(1):181-200.
- 19. Patel P, Rose CE, Collins PY, et al. Noncommunicable diseases among HIV-infected persons in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2018;32 Suppl 1: S5-s20.
- 20. IHME. Global Health Data Exchange GBD Results Tool. 2017 (accessed September 15 2020)
- 21. Brown LE, Majeed I, Mu W, McCann J, Durborow S, Chen S, Blank MB. Suicide risk among persons living with HIV. AIDS Care. 2020;3:1-7.
- 22. Ruffieux Y, Lemsalu L, Aebi-Popp K, Calmy A, Cavassini M, Fux CA, Günthard HF, Marzolini C, Scherrer A, Vernazza P, Keiser O, Egger M, Swiss HIV Cohort Study and the Swiss National Cohort. Mortality from suicide among people living with HIV and the general Swiss population: 1988-2017. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(8):e25339.
- 23. Annette H Sohn AH, Ross J, Wainberg ML. Barriers to mental healthcare and treatment for people living with HIV in the Asia-Pacific. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21:e25189.
- 24. Hartzler B, Dombrowski JC, Crane HM, Eron JJ, Geng EH, Mathews WC, Mayer KH, Moore RD, Mugavero MJ, Napravnik S, Rodriguez B, Donovan DM. Prevalence and predictors of substance use disorders among HIV care enrollees in the United States. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(4):1138–1148.
- 25. Clifford DB, Ances BM. HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13(11):976–986.
- 26. WHO Meeting Report on Excess Mortality in Persons with Severe Mental Disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015
- (https://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/excess_mortality_meeting_report.pdf?ua=1).
- 27. Helleberg M, Pedersen MG, Pedersen CB, Mortensen PB, Obel N. Associations between HIV and schizophrenia and their effect on HIV treatment outcomes: a nationwide population-based cohort study in Denmark. Lancet HIV. 2015;2(8):e344-50.
- 28. Helping people with severe mental disorders live longer and healthier lives: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017
- (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259575/WHO-MSD-MER-17.7-eng.pdf;jsessionid=C71119957842838BEE3120CEEF9AAB64?sequence=1).
- 29. Nakimuli-Mpungu E, Bass JK, Alexandre P, Mills EJ, Musisi S, Ram M et al. Depression, alcohol use and adherence to antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2012;16:2101–18.
- 30. Berg CJ, Michelson SE, Safren SA. Behavioral aspects of HIV care: adherence, depression, substance use, and HIV-transmission behaviors. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2007;21:181–200. 162 Springer SA, Dushaj A, Azar MM. The impact of DSM-IV mental disorders on adherence to combination antiretroviral therapy among adult persons living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2012;16:2119–43.
- 31. Cook JA, Grey D, Burke J, Gurtman AC, Richardson JL, Wilson TE et al. Depressive symptoms and AIDSrelated mortality among a multisite cohort of HIV-positive women. Am J Public Health. 2004;94:1133–40.
- 32. Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a metaanalysis. Ann Behav Med. 2014;47(3):259–69.

- 33. Adolescent Mental Health. Key Facts. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health).
- 34. Kessler R, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas K. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62:593-602.
- 35. Every child survives and thrives. Goal Area 1. Global Annual Results Report. New York: UNICEF; 2019.
- 36. Causes of deaths among adolescents. Global Health Estimates (GHE). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 37. Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 38. Kreniske P, Mellins CA, Dolezal C, Korich R, Leu CS, Wiznia A, Abrams EJ. Sounding the Alarm: Perinatally HIV-Infected Youth More Likely to Attempt Suicide Than Their Uninfected Cohort Peers. Adolesc Health. 2019; 65(5):702-705.
- 39. Althoff KN, Smit M, Reiss P, Justice AC. HIV and ageing: improving quantity and quality of life. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2016;11(5):527-36.
- 40. AIDSInfo. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://aidsinfo.unaids.org/).
- 41. Althoff KN, Smit M, Reiss P, Justice AC. HIV and ageing: improving quantity and quality of life. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2016;11(5):527-36.
- 42. Plöderl M, Tremblay P. Mental health of sexual minorities. A systematic review. Int Review of Psychiatry. 2015;27(5):367-85.
- 43. Fazel S, Hayes AJ, Bartellas K, Clerici M, Trestman R. Mental health of prisoners: prevalence, adverse outcomes, and interventions. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(9):871-81.
- 44. Remien RH, Stirratt MJ, Nguyen N, Robbins RN, Pala AN, Mellins CA. Mental health and HIV/AIDS the need for an integrated response. AIDS. 2019;33(9):1411-1420.
- 45. Bogart LM, Wagner GJ, Galvan FH, Landrine H, Klein DJ, Sticklor LA. Perceived discrimination and mental health symptoms among Black men with HIV. Cult Divers Ethn Minor Psychol. 2011;17:295–302.
- 46. Dale SK, Bogart LM, Galvan FH, Wagner GJ, Pantalone DW, Klein DJ. Discrimination and hate crimes in the context of neighborhood poverty and stressors among HIV-positive African-American men who have sex with men. J Commun Health. 2016;41:574–583.
- 47. Mental health and prisons. Information sheet. Geneva: World Health Organization and ICRC (https://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/mh_in_prison.pdf)
- 48. Durcan G, Jan Cees Zwemstra JC. Mental health in prison. Prisons and Health. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2014 (https://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf_file/0005/249188/Prisons-and-Health.pdf).
- 49. Mental health conditions in conflict situations are much more widespread than we thought. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/redirect-pages/mega-menu/health-topics).
- 50. Charlson F, van Ommeren M, Flaxman A, Cornett J, Whiteford H, Saxena S. New WHO prevalence estimates of mental disorders in conflict settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;394:240–4.
- 51. Miles to Go: Closing Gaps, Breaking Barriers, Righting Injustices. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2018
- (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/miles-to-go_en.pdf).
- 52. Mental Health Atlas 2017. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.

- 53. Mental health: massive scale-up of resources needed if global targets are to be met. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- (https://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/atlas/atlas_2017_web_note/en/).
- 54. Singla DR, Kohrt BA, Murray LK, Anand A, Chorpita BF, Patel V. Psychological Treatments for the World: Lessons from Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Annual review of clinical psychology. 2017;13:149-81.
- 55. Chibanda D, Weiss HA, Verhey R, et al. Effect of a Primary Care-Based Psychological Intervention on Symptoms of Common Mental Disorders in Zimbabwe: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. 2016;316(24): 2618-26.
- 56. Nakimuli-Mpungu E, Musisi S, Wamala K, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of group support psychotherapy delivered by trained lay health workers for depression treatment among people with HIV in Uganda: a cluster-randomised trial. The Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(3):e387-e98.
- 57. Araya R, Rojas G, Fritsch R, et al. Treating depression in primary care in low-income women in Santiago, Chile: a randomized controlled trial. Lancet. 2003;361(9362):995-1000. 58. Bolton P, Bass J, Neugebauer R, et al. Group interpersonal psychotherapy for
- depression in rural Uganda: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of the American Medical Assocation 2003;289(23):3117-24.
- 59. Bolton P, Lee C, Haroz EE, et al. A transdiagnostic community-based mental health treatment for comorbid disorders: development and outcomes of a randomized controlled trial among Burmese refugees in Thailand. PLoS Med. 2014;11(11):e1001757.
- 60. Patel V, Weiss H, Chowdhary N, et al. Effectiveness of an intervention led by lay health counsellors for depressive and anxiety disorders in primary care in Goa, India (MANAS): a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2010;18:2086-95.
- 61. Rahman A, Malik A, Sikander S, Roberts C, Creed F. Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008;372(9642):902-9.
- 62. Galarraga O, Gao B, Gakinya BN, et al. Task-shifting alcohol interventions for HIV+ persons in Kenya: a cost-benefit analysis. BMC health services research. 2017;17(1):239.
- 63. Papas RK, Sidle JE, Gakinya BN, et al. Treatment outcomes of a stage 1 cognitive-behavioral trial to reduce alcohol use among human immunodeficiency virus-infected outpatients in western Kenya. Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2011;106(12):2156-66.
- 64. Abas M, Nyamayaro P, Bere T, Saruchera E, Mothobi N, Simms V, et al. Feasibility and Acceptability of a Task-Shifted Intervention to Enhance Adherence to HIV Medication and Improve Depression in People Living with HIV in Zimbabwe, a Low-Income Country in Sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Behav. 2018;22(1):86-101.
- 65. Kaaya S, Eustache E, Lapidos-Salaiz I, Musisi S, Psaros C, Wissow L. Grand challenges: Improving HIV treatment outcomes by integrating interventions for co-morbid mental illness. PLoS Med. 2013;10(5):e1001447.
- 66. mhGAP Intervention Guide Version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/mhgap-intervention-guide---version-2.0).
- 67. World Mental Health Day: an opportunity to kick-start a massive scale-up in investment in mental health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020
- (https://www.who.int/news/item/27-08-2020-world-mental-health-day-an-opportunity-to-kick-start-a-massive-scale-up-in-investment-in-mental-health).
- 68. Policy Brief: COVID-19 and the Need for Action on Mental Health. New York: United Nations; 2020 (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_policy_brief-covid and mental health final.pdf).

- 69. Mental Health & COVID-19. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/covid-19).
- 70. Sher L. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on suicide rates. QJM: An International Journal of Medicine. 2020;113(10):707–712.
- 71. Ahmeda MZ, Ahmed O, Aibaoa Z, Hanbina S, Siyuc L, Ahmadd A. Epidemic of COVID-19 in China and associated Psychological Problems. Asian J of Psychiatry. 2020;51:102092.
- 72. Substantial investment needed to avert mental health crisis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news/item/14-05-2020-substantial-investment-needed-to-avert-mental-health-crisis).
- 73. Clinical management of COVID-19. Interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/clinical-management-of-covid-19).
- 74. Luming L, Fangyong L, Fortunati F, Krystal JH. Association of a Prior Psychiatric Diagnosis With Mortality Among Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Infection. JAMA Network Open. 2020;3(9):e2023282.
- 75. Liotta E, Batra A, Clark JR, Shlobin NA, Hoffman SC, Orban ZS, Koralnik IJ. Frequent neurologic manifestations and encephalopathy-associated morbidity in COVID-19 patients. Ann Clin Transl Neu. 2020;7:2221-2230.
- 76. Rimmer A. COVID-19: Impact of long-term symptoms will be profound, warns BMA. BMJ. 2020;370:m3218.
- 77. The impact of COVID-19 on mental, neurological and substance use services: results of a rapid assessment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978924012455).
- 78. Czeisler MÉ, Lane RI, Petrosky E, Wiley JF, Christensen A, Njai R, Weaver MD, Robbins R, Facer-Childs ER, Barger LR, Czeisler CA, Howard ME, Rajaratnam SM. Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic United States, June 24–30, 2020. MMWR. 2020:69(32);1049–1057.
- 79. Suicide spike in Japan shows mental health toll of COVID-19. The Japan Times. 9 October 2020. (https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2020/10/09/national/social-issues/suicide-mental-health-coronavirus/).
- 80. Tesfaye M, Kaestel P, Olsen MF, Girma T, Yilma D, Abdissa A, Ritz C, Prince M, Friis H, Hanlon C. Food insecurity, mental health and quality of life among people living with HIV commencing antiretroviral treatment in Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2016;14(37).
- 81. The impact of COVID-19 on mental, neurological and substance use services: Results of a rapid assessment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978924012455).
- 82. HIV Programming in the Context of COVID-19: Sustaining the gains and reimagining the future. Compendium of innovative approaches in Eastern and Southern Africa. New York: UNICEF; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/esa/reports/unicefs-hiv-programming-context-covid-19-sustaining-gains-and-reimagining-future).
- 83. COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/04/issue-brief-covid-19-and-ending-violence-against-women-and-girls).
- 84. Addressing stigma and discrimination in the COVID-19 response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020
- (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media asset/covid19-stigma-brief en.pdf).

- 85. COVID-19 and HIV: 1 Moment. 2 Epidemics. 3 Opportunities. How to seize the moment to learn, leverage and build a new way forward for everyone's health and rights. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020
- (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20200909_Lessons-HIV-COVID19.pdf).
- 86. Hamadani JD, Hasan MI, Baldi AJ, Hossain SJ, Shiraji S, Bhuiyan MS, Mehrin SF, Fisher J, Tofail F, Tipu SMT, Grantham-McGregor S, Biggs BA, Braat S, Pasricha SR. Immediate impact of stay-at-home orders to control COVID-19 transmission on socioeconomic conditions, food insecurity, mental health, and intimate partner violence in Bangladeshi women and their families: an interrupted time series. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8:e1380–1389.
- 87. The impact of COVID-19 on women's and men's lives and livelihoods in Europe and Central Asia: Preliminary results from a Rapid Gender Assessment. UN Women; 2020 (https://eca.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/07/the-impact-of-covid19-on-womens-and-mens-lives-and-livelihoods).
- 88. Unlocking the lockdown: The gendered effects of COVID-19 on achieving the SDGS in Asia and the Pacific. Survey Report. UN Women; 2020 (https://data.unwomen.org/publications/unlocking-lockdown-gendered-effects-covid-19-
- achieving-sdgs-asia-and-pacific).
- 89. RAPID GENDER ASSESSMENT (RGA) for the COVID-19 situation in the Republic of Kazakhstan. UNFPA, UN Women, Women Count; 2020 (https://www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eca/attachments/publications/2020/06/rapid%20gender%20assessment%20kazakhstan_eng.pdf?la=en&vs=2539).
- 90. Gender Rapid Assessment Impact of COVID-19 in the Kyrgyz Republic. UN Women; 2020 (https://kyrgyzstan.un.org/en/48889-gender-rapid-assessment-impact-covid-19-kyrgyz-republic).
- 91. The economic and social impact of COVID-19 on women and men: Rapid gender assessment of COVID-19 implications in Turkey. UN Women; 2020 (https://eca.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/06/the-impact-of-covid19-on-women-and-men-rapid-gender-assessment-of-covid19-implications-in-turkey).
- 92. The economic and social impact of COVID-19 on women and men: Rapid gender assessment of COVID-19 implications in Ukraine. UN Women; 2020 (https://eca.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/05/rapid-gender-assessment-of-the-situation-and-needs-of-women).
- 93. Rapid assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable women in Jordan. UN Women; 2020 (https://jordan.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/rapid-assessment-of-the-impact-of-covid19-on-vulnerable-women-in-jordan#view).
- 94. II Survey on the impact of COVID-19 on PLHIV. Regional results analysis. UNAIDS Latin America and Caribbean; 2020. (http://onusidalac.org/1/index.php/internas/item/2615 http://onusidalac.org/1/images/infographic2-survey-ENG.pdf).
- 95. Fisher JRW, Tran TD, Hammarberg K, Sastry J, Nguyen H, Rowe H, Popplestone S, Stocker R, Stubber C, Kirkma M. Mental health of people in Australia in the first month of COVID-19 restrictions: a national survey. Med J Aust. 2020
- (https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2020/mental-health-people-australia-first-month-covid-19-restrictions-national-survey).
- 96. HIV: Impact on mental health & quality of life in the time of COVID-19. Inter-Agency Task Team on Young Key Populations (IATT on YKPs) in Asia and the Pacific; 2020 (https://www.ykptaskteam.org/survey/young-sex-workers-blog-unfpa-apro-tbc-2).

- 97. United Nations Comprehensive Response to COVID-19: Saving Lives, Protecting Societies, Recovering Better. New York: United Nations; 2020.
- (https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_comprehensive_response_to_covid-19_june_2020.pdf).
- 98. DOH and WHO promote holistic mental health wellness in light of World Suicide Prevention Day. Mental health hotlines bolstered amidst a surge of calls during COVID-19 pandemic. World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/philippines/news/detail/10-09-2020-doh-and-who-promote-holistic-mental-health-wellness-in-light-of-world-suicide-prevention-day).
- 99. UNICEF's HIV Programming in the Context of COVID-19: Sustaining the gains and reimagining the future for children, adolescents and women. Compendium of innovative approaches in Eastern and Southern Africa. UNICEF Eastern and Southern Africa; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/esa/media/6621/file/HIV%20COVID-19%20Compendium%20-July%202020.pdf).
- 100. Kopelovich SL, Monroe-DeVita M, Buck BE, Brenner C, Moser L, L. Jarskog LF, Harker S, Chwastiak LA. Community Mental Health Care Delivery During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Practical Strategies for Improving Care for People with Serious Mental Illness. Community Ment Health J. 2020;19:1–11.
- 101.mhGAP operations manual: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018
- (https://www.who.int/mental_health/mhgap/operations_manual/en/).
- 102. Comprehensive mental health action plan 2013-2020-2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/mental_health/action_plan 2013/en/).
- 103. QualityRights materials for training, guidance and transformation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019
- (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-qualityrights-guidance-and-training-tools). 104. Guidelines on mental health promotive and preventive interventions for adolescents.

Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020

(https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/guidelines-on-mental-health-promotive-and-preventive-interventions-for-adolescents).

- 105. GDG Virtual Meeting on the update of the Consolidated Guidelines for use of antiretrovirals for preventing and treating HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/11-09-2020-gdg-virtual-meeting-on-the-update-of-the-consolidated-guidelines-for-use-of-antiretrovirals-for-preventing-and-treating-hiv-infection).
- 106. Adolescent-friendly health services for adolescents living with HIV: from theory to practice. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019
- (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/adolescent-friendly-health-services-for-adolescents-living-with-hiv).
- 107. Learning session on HIV-affected adolescent mothers and their children in sub-Saharan Africa. Report of a consultation co-hosted by WHO and the Coalition for Children Affected by AIDS. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019
- (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/learning-session-on-hiv-affected-adolescent-mothers-and-their-children-in-sub-saharan-africa).
- 108. Leading Minds Conference for Children and Young People; 2019 (http://leading-minds.co/?utm_source=unicefconnectchantellesblog&utm_medium=website&utm_campaign=leadingminds).

- 109. Prioritizing the Continuity of Services for Adolescents Living with HIV during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Information note. New York: UNICEF; 2020 (https://www.childrenandaids.org/covid19-adol-services).
- 110. HIV Prevention, Treatment, Care and Support for People Who Use Stimulant Drugs. Technical Guide. UNODC, World Health Organization, UNAIDS; 2019 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids/publications/People who use drugs/19-04568_HIV_Prevention_Guide_ebook.pdf).
- 111. Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV in Prisons: A Technical Guide. UNODC, UNFPA, World Health Organization, UN Women, UNAIDS. United Nations, Vienna; 2019 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-

aids/publications/Prisons and other closed settings/20-

- 01573_HIV_Prison_Mother_child_eBook.pdf).
- 112. Maintaining essential health services: operational guidance for the COVID-19 context. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-essential-health-services-2020.1).
- 113. IASC Guidance on Operational considerations for Multisectoral Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Programmes during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Geneva: IASC Reference Group on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-reference-group-mental-health-and-psychosocial-support-emergency-settings/iasc-guidance).
- 114. Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Resources for COVID-19. Geneva: IASC; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/mental-health-and-psychosocial-support-resources-covid-19).
- 115. The Big Event for Mental Health. World Health Organization; 2020. (https://www.who.int/news-room/events/detail/2020/10/10/default-calendar/the-big-event-formental-health).
- 116. The People Living with HIV Stigma Index 2.0. What's new in the Stigma Index 2.0? ICW, GNP+, UNAIDS
- (https://www.stigmaindex.org/about-the-stigma-index/the-people-living-with-hiv-stigma-index-2-0/).
- 115. UNAIDS and the LGBT Foundation launch groundbreaking study on happiness, sex and quality of life for LGBTI people. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2019
- (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2019/may/20190514_survey).
- 116. LGBT Foundation Press Release; 2019
- (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2019/m ay/20190514_survey)
- 117. Lamontagne E, Howell S, Yakusik A, Ross MW. The determinants of happiness, wellbeing, and vulnerability to HIV among the LGBT community: An economic analysis. (in progress). 2020.
- 118. Lamontagne E, Howell S, Yakusik A, Well-being of LGBTI+ people as an essential element of the global HIV response. AIDS2020 Conference. 2020;A-AIDS2020-08589.
- 119. Lamontagne E, Doan T, Howell S, Yakusik A, Baral S, Strömdahl S, et al. COVID-19 pandemic increases socioeconomic vulnerability of LGBT+ communities and their susceptibility to HIV. AIDS2020 Conference. 2020;C-AIDS2020-11633
- 120. Santos G-M, Ackerman B, Rao A, Wallach S, Ayala G, Lamontagne E, et al. Economic, Mental Health, HIV Prevention and HIV Treatment Impacts of COVID-19 and the COVID-19

- Response on a Global Sample of Cisgender Gay Men and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men. AIDS and behavior. 2020;1-11.
- 121. PEPFAR 2019 Country Operational Plan Guidance for all PEPFAR Countries.
- Washington: PEPFAR; 2019 (https://www.state.gov/pepfar/).
- 122. PEPFAR 2020 Country Operational Plan Guidance for all PEPFAR Countries.
- Washington: PEPFAR; 2020 (https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2019-11-25-COP20-Guidance-Full-Consolidated_Public-2-1.pdf).
- 123. PEPFAR Country/Regional Operational Plans (COPs/ROPs) Database. Washington: Amfar; 2020 (https://copsdata.amfar.org/about/sources).
- 124. Modular Framework Handbook 2019. Geneva: The Global Fund; 2019 (https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/4309/fundingmodel modularframework handbook en.pdf).
- 125. Technical brief on HIV and key populations. Programming at scale with sex workers, men who have sex with men, transgender people, people who inject drugs, and people in prison and other closed settings. Geneva: The Global Fund; 2019 (https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/4794/core_keypopulations_technicalbrief_en.pdf?u=6 37319005413370000).
- 126. Thirty-Third Board Meeting Global Fund support for coinfections and co-morbidities GF/B33/11 Board Decision. Geneva: The Global Fund; 2015
- (https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/4167/bm33_11-co-infectionsandco-morbidities_report_en.pdf).
- 127. Phenomenal Positive Youths lead the way during COVID-19 pandemic in Zambia. UNAIDS; 2020
- (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2020/july/20200723_zambi a).
- 128. Assisting people who use drugs to receive methadone treatment during COVID-19 lockdown in Kazakhstan. UNAIDS; 2020
- (https://www.unaids.org/en/20200424 Kazakhstan ost).
- 129. GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789-858.
- 130. Hughes E, Bassi S, Gilbody S, Bland M, Martin F. Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B, and hepatitis C in people with severe mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(1):40-8.
- 131. Krumme AA, Kaigamba F, Binagwaho A, Murray MB, Rich ML, Franke MF. Depression, adherence and attrition from care in HIV-infected adults receiving antiretroviral therapy. Journal of epidemiology and community health. 2015;69(3):284-9.
- 132. Mayston R, Kinyanda E, Chishinga N, Prince M, Patel V. Mental disorder and the outcome of HIV/AIDS in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Aids. 2012;26Suppl 2:117-35.
- 133. Uthman OA, Magidson JF, Safren SA, Nachega JB. Depression and adherence to antiretroviral therapy in low-, middle- and high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Current HIV/AIDS Reports. 2014;11(3):291-307.
- 134. McMahon JM, Braksmajer A, Zhang C, et al. Syndemic factors associated with adherence to antiretroviral therapy among HIV-positive adult heterosexual men. AIDS Research and Therapy. 2019;16(1):32.

- 135. Key barriers to women's access to HIV treatment: A global review. UN Women, AVAC, Athena Network, Salamander Trust. UN Women; 2017 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2017/12/key-barriers-to-womens-access-to-hiv-treatment).
- 136. Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis. Annals of behavioral medicine: a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine. 2014;47(3):259-69.
- 137. Antelman G, Kaaya S, Wei R, et al. Depressive symptoms increase risk of HIV disease progression and mortality among women in Tanzania. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;44(4):470-7.
- 138. Cook JA, Grey D, Burke J, et al. Depressive symptoms and AIDS-related mortality among a multisite cohort of HIV-positive women. 2004;94(7):1133-40.
- 139. Ickovics JR, Milan S, Boland R, et al. Psychological resources protect health: 5-year survival and immune function among HIV-infected women from four US cities AIDS. 2006;20:1851-60.
- 140. Sudfeld CR, Kaaya S, Gunaratna NS, et al. Depression at antiretroviral therapy initiation and clinical outcomes among a cohort of Tanzanian women living with HIV. Aids. 2017;31(2):263-71.
- 141. Todd JV, Cole SR, Pence BW, et al. Effects of Antiretroviral Therapy and Depressive Symptoms on All-Cause Mortality Among HIV-Infected Women. American journal of epidemiology. 2017;1-10.
- 142. WHO. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 143. Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 144. World Drug Report 2020. Vienna: UNODC; 2020 (https://wdr.unodc.org/wdr2020/).
- 145. HIV and Substance Use in the United States. Atlanta: U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2019 (https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/risk/substanceuse.html).
- 146. Injection Drug Use and HIV Risk. Atlanta: U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2020 (https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/risk/idu.html).
- 147. Azar MM, Springer SA, Meyer JP, Altice FL. A Systematic Review of the Impact of Alcohol Use Disorders on HIV Treatment Outcomes, Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy and Health Care Utilization. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2010 Dec 1; 112(3): 178–193.
- 148. Common Comorbidities with Substance Use Disorders Research Report. Part 3: The Connection between Substance Use Disorders and HIV. Washington: National Institute on Drug Abuse; 2020
- (https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/common-comorbidities-substance-use-disorders/part-3-connection-between-substance-use-disorders-hiv).
- 149. Feelemyer J, Des Jarlais D, Arasteh K, Uusküla A. Adherence to antiretroviral medications among persons who inject drugs in transitional, low and middle income countries: an international systematic review. AIDS and behavior. 2015;19(4):575-83.
- 150. Socias ME, Milloy MJ. Substance Use and Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy: What Is Known and What Is Unknown. Current infectious disease reports. 2018;20(9):36.
- 151. Wechsberg WM, van der Horst C, Ndirangu J, et al. Seek, test, treat: substance-using women in the HIV treatment cascade in South Africa. Addiction science & clinical practice. 2017;12(1):12.
- 152. Magidson JF, Saal W, Nel A, Remmert JE, Kagee A. Relationship between depressive symptoms, alcohol use, and antiretroviral therapy adherence among HIV-infected, clinic-attending patients in South Africa. J Health Psychol. 2017;22(11):1426-33.

- 153. Vagenas P, Azar MM, Copenhaver MM, Springer SA, Molina PE, Altice FL. The Impact of Alcohol Use and Related Disorders on the HIV Continuum of Care: a Systematic Review: Alcohol and the HIV Continuum of Care. Current HIV/AIDS reports. 2015;12(4):421-36. 154. Low AJ, Mburu G, Welton NJ, May MT, Davies CF, French C, Turner KM, Looker KJ, Christensen H, McLean S, Rhodes T, Platt L, Hickman M, Guise A, Vickerman P. Impact
- KJ, Christensen H, McLean S, Rhodes T, Platt L, Hickman M, Guise A, Vickerman P. Impact of Opioid Substitution Therapy on Antiretroviral Therapy Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2016;63(8):1094–1104.
- 155. WHO. Suicide in the world: Global health estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019.
- 156. Schlebusch L, Vawda N. HIV-infection as a self-reported risk factor for attempted suicide in South Africa. African Journal of Psychiatry. 2010;13:280-3.
- 157. Musisi S, Kinyanda E. Emotional and behavioural disorders in HIV seropositive adolescents in urban Uganda. East African Medical Journal. 2009;86(1):16–24.
- 158. Olley BO, Zeier MD, Seedat S, Stein DJ. Post-traumatic stress disorder among recently diagnosed patients with HIV/AIDS in South Africa. AIDS Care. 2005;17(5):550-7.
- 159. Petrushkin A, Boardman J, Ovuga E. Psychiatric disorders in HIV-positive individuals in urban Uganda. Psychiatric Bulletin. 2005;29:455–8.
- 160. Govender RD, Schlebusch L, Esterhuizen T. Brief suicide preventive intervention in newly diagnosed HIV-positive persons. J Psychiatry. 2014;17:543-547
- 161. Li Y, Guo Y, Hong YA, Zhu M, Zeng C, Qiao J, Xu Z, Zhang H, Zeng Y, Cai W, Li L, Liu C. Mechanisms and Effects of a WeChat-Based Intervention on Suicide Among People Living With HIV and Depression: Path Model Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res. 2019;21(11):e14729.
- 162. Baral S, Logie CH, Grosso A, Wirtz AL, Beyrer C. Modified social ecological model: a tool to guide the assessment of the risks and risk contexts of HIV epidemics. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:482.
- 163. Collins PY, Unger Hv, Armbrister A. Church ladies, good girls, and locas: Stigma and the intersection of gender, ethnicity, mental illness, and sexuality in relation to HIV risk. Social Science & Medicine. 2008;67(3):389-97.
- 164. Earnshaw VA, Bogart LM, Dovidio JF, Williams DR. Stigma and racial/ethnic HIV disparities: moving toward resilience. The American psychologist. 2013;68(4):225-36.
- 165. Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, Ross DA, Afifi R, Allen NB, et al. Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. Lancet. 2016;387(10036):2423-78.
- 166. Global Acceelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 167. Bundy DAP, de Silva N, Horton S, Patton GC, Schultz L, Jamison DT. Investment in child and adolescent health and development: key messages from Disease Control Priorities, 3rd Edition. Lancet. 2018;391(10121):687-99.
- 168. Ferlatte O, Salway T, Oliffe JL, Trussler T. Stigma and suicide among gay and bisexual men living with HIV. AIDS Care. 2017;29(11):1346-50.
- 169. Preventing Suicide: A Global Imperative. Geneva: World Health Organization Press; 2014.
- 170. Kutzin J, Sparkes SP. Health systems strengthening, universal health coverage, health security and resilience. Bull World Health Organ. 2016;94(1):2.
- 171. Patel V, Shekhar SS, Lund C, Thornicroft G, Baingana F, Bolton P, et al. The Lancet Commission on Global Mental Health & Sustainable Development. Lancet. 2018;pii:S0140-6736(18)31612-X.

172. Kaaya S, Eustache E, Lapidos-Salaiz I, Musisi S, Psaros C, Wissow L. Grand challenges: Improving HIV treatment outcomes by integrating interventions for co-morbid mental illness. PLoS Med. 2013;10(5):e1001447.

[End of document]